
 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 

Monday 5 September 2022 

2.00 pm 

Warspite Room, Council House 

 

Members: 

Councillor Lugger, Chair 

Councillor Lowry, Vice Chair 

Councillors Evans OBE, Finn and Tofan. 

 

Independent Members: Mrs Annette Benny and Mr Ian Shipperley. 

 

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 

 

 

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 

process please follow this link - Get Involved 

 

 

Tracey Lee 

Chief Executive 

 

 Oversight and Governance 

Chief Executive’s Department 

Plymouth City Council 

Ballard House 

Plymouth  PL1 3BJ 

 

Please ask for Democratic Support 

T 01752  668000 

E 

democraticsupport@plymouth.go

v.uk 

www.plymouth.gov.uk 

Published 25 August 2022 

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings/getinvolved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings


 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 
 

 

Agenda 

  

1. Apologies    

  

 To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Committee Members. 

  

2. Declarations of Interest    

  

 Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 

Agenda. 

  

3. Chair's Urgent Business    

  

 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 

  

4. Public Consultation Regarding the Council's Electoral Cycle:   (Pages 1 - 18) 

 

5. Exempt Business    

  

 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 

business on the grounds that it (they) involve the likely disclosure of exempt information 

as defined in paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the 

Freedom of Information Act 2000 

  

 



 

Page 1 of 3 

 

OFFICIAL 

Audit and Governance Committee
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 05 September 2022 

Title of Report: Public consultation regarding the Council’s electoral 

cycle 

Lead Cabinet Member: Councillor Richard Bingley (Leader of the Council) 

Lead Strategic Director: Giles Perritt (Assistant Chief Executive) 

Author: Giles Perritt (Assistant Chief Executive) 

Contact Email:  Giles.perritt@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: Electoral Cycle 2022 

Key Decision:  No 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

To seek the Committee’s endorsement of a public consultation using powers available under Section 116 

of the Local Government Act 2003, between June and August 2022.  This consultation will engage with 

stakeholders across the city on the issue of moving from the current electoral cycle of elections ‘by 

thirds’ to whole council elections. 

 

The use of powers under Section 116 of the Local Government Act 2003, does not in any way bind the 

authority to seeking a resolution to amend the election cycle. The result of any consultation or advisory 

poll conducted under the act is advisory in nature, and does not commit the council or any other entity 

to a particular course of action.  

 

Recommendations and Reasons 

 

The Audit and Governance Committee recommends to council that –  

 
1. a public engagement consultation is undertaken using powers under Section 116 of the Local 

Government Act 2003 between June and August 2023 on the issue of moving from the current 

electoral cycle of elections to ‘whole council’ elections once every four years. 

2. the Audit and Governance Committee oversees and agrees the design and implementation of 

the consultation, in particular who will be consulted/engaged with and how.  

3. The council confirms that the Boundary Commission Review commences in December 2023 

and is conducted across 2024/25 with resulting arrangements implemented in 2026. 

 

Reason:  

 To ensure that the Council’s position on its intended elections cycle can be confirmed to 

the Local Government Boundary Commission for England prior to the commencement of 

the City Council’s electoral review, subject to its commencement in December 2023. 

 To better understand public and stakeholder views on either retaining the current 

arrangements of elections ‘by thirds’ taking place in three years out of four, or on moving to 

a cycle of ‘all out’ elections once every four years. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Recommendation three ensures that City Councils election team will undertake its work in 

relation to the review in 2025 (a fallow year) and will not impact on the Local City and 

Police & Crime Commissioner Elections to be held in 2024. 

 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

To not undertake a public consultation.  This would mean that the Council would not have the benefit 

of a formal record of public and stakeholder views about the Council’s electoral arrangements to 

inform future consideration of the matter. 

 

To undertake a public consultation commencing prior to the dates recommended. Decisions have not 

yet been made as to the scope and design of a public consultation, and the Council is not due to 

consider the matter until its September 2022 meeting, leaving a somewhat tight timescale for a full 

consultation, analysis and consideration of the results prior to local elections in May 2023. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

The Corporate Plan commits the Council to engaging with and listening to our residents, businesses 

and communities.  The Council’s values include a commitment to Plymouth being a place where people 

can have their say about what is important to them, and where they are empowered to make change 

happen.  The recommendations of this report seek to deliver these commitments in respect of a key 

element of the Council’s democratic arrangements. 

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

The costs associated with a public consultation and analysis of the results, likely to be in the region of 

£26k will be met from within existing revenue resources.  The financial implications of any change to the 

Council’s electoral cycle are referenced within the accompanying briefing report, but do not arise as a 

result of the recommendation of this report, as the results of the consultation exercise would not be 

binding on the Council, and any decision about changing the electoral cycle would be a matter for future 

consideration by the Council. 

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

Subject to the decision of Council in June 2022, the consultation will take place largely on-line, reducing 

reliance on printed media, although paper copies will be available where necessary.  

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

 

An equalities impact assessment will be undertaken to ensure that the consultation will be carried out 

with due regard to facilitating participation by those with protected characteristics under the Equality 

Act 2010.  Subject to the recommendations of this report being agreed, this would be considered by 

the Council in June 2022. 

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Briefing report        

Page 2



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

OFFICIAL 

         

 

Background papers:  

*Add rows as required to box below 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background papers are unpublished works, 

relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

work is based. 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

  Sign off: 
 

Fin ba.21.

22.30

0 

Leg EJ/38

851/1

5.7.22 

Mon 

Off 

 HR  Asset

s  

 Strat 

Proc 

 

Originating Senior Leadership Team member:  Giles Perritt (Assistant Chief Executive) 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes  

Date agreed: 18/03/2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

V2 09.06.222 (CM)  

OFFICIAL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL  
Audit and Governance Committee 5 September 2022: Appendix A

 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

A report was presented to Council on 21 March 2022, which sought the Council’s endorsement to 

carry out a public consultation and to engage with residents across the city on the issue of moving 

from the current electoral cycle of elections ‘by thirds’ to whole council elections. The report 

proposed that the consultation and engagement activity would be carried out between June and 

August 2022.   

The report specifically recommended; 

1. That Council resolves to undertake a public engagement consultation using its powers under 

Section 116 of the Local Government Act 2003 between June and August 2022 on the issue of 

moving from the current electoral cycle of elections to ‘whole council’ elections once every 

four years. 

2. That Council delegates to the Audit and Governance Committee approval of the planned 
implementation of the consultation, in particular who will be consulted/engaged with and how. 

Following the Council debate, it was resolved that this matter would be deferred, in full, for further 

discussion at the next Audit and Governance Committee, and that the Committee would make a 

recommendation back to Council as to whether the Council should move to consult and engage 

residents and stakeholders on this matter, and if so to advise Council on when and how this will 

happen. 

The briefing to support the recommendation made to Council on 21 March 2022, is attached in 

Appendix A and remains unchanged for the purpose of supporting and framing this discussion. 

 

2. PURPOSE  

This report provides further information to assist the Committee in their decision and approach in 

taking this matter forward. Further guidance and support will be provided in regard to the planning 

and running of the consultation, engagement and communication activity if it is determined that such 

an exercise should be carried out.  

 

3. DECISION TO CONSULT  

As stated in the Council Briefing dated 21 March 2022, legislation requires the Council to take 

reasonable steps to engage and/or consult with those it thinks appropriate on any potential change to 

the electoral cycle. This will include, but is not limited to –  

 the general public/electorate 

 serving Councillors 

 Members of Parliament 

 key city partners 

 businesses 

It is for the Council to decide on what constitutes ‘reasonable steps’. This would not be a 

referendum, but will require a robust and far reaching approach. For information Appendix B provides 

a table of consultation activity and information from other local authorities who have also undertaken 

this exercise and used the information to help determine their local election cycle. 

Page 5



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL Page 2 of 10 

OFFICIAL 

3.1 Key Considerations 

It is for the Audit and Governance Committee to use the information provided and discuss the merits 

or otherwise of consulting on a change to the electoral cycle. If the decision is taken to move 

forward, it will be for the Committee to then decide when they wish to undertake this public 

consultation. 

The consultation could take place as soon as practicably possible or be scheduled for later this year or 

early 2023. The decision could alternatively be to delay and commit to carrying out a public 

consultation in line with an electoral review by the Local Government Boundary Commission for 

England – this review is yet to be scheduled but is likely to be in 2024/25.  

Once the decision is made to carry out a public consultation, the approach will need to be planned 

and agreed upon by the Committee. It would be advised that a robust but moderate approach to 

consultation, which is proportionate to the cost, is considered by the Committee, such as conducting 

an online poll or survey, and supplemented by targeted stakeholder and community engagement 

activity.  

The table in Appendix B demonstrates the varying levels of engagement and interest in this topic – 

and for the most part clearly shows a poor response rate given the promotional activity set out. 

Plymouth City Council has a good track record of generating high response rates for its consultation 

and engagement activities, and there would be an expectation that this exercise would yield over 2000 

responses when supported by proactive and far reaching communications.  

Having a high level of response will provide confidence and reassurance in the decision making 

process, however it is important to note that the results and views gathered from any consultation 

and engagement activity does not in any way bind the authority to seeking a resolution to amend the 

election cycle. The results of any activity conducted are advisory in nature, and do not commit the 

Council or any other entity to a particular course of action. They do however, provide clear evidence 

of the public views on the matter being put before them. 

The communication approach will be key to not only ensuring that the consultation receives a good 

level response, but that respondents understand what they are being asked to ‘vote’ on. This means 

that residents need to be provided with clear, unbiased, and accurate information to allow them to 

make an informed decision. Regardless of the format of the consultation and engagement, this 

exercise will require extensive communication to ensure stakeholders understand: 

 What the proposal would mean to them 

 The rationale for the proposed change and the pros and cons 

 The process required for making the change 

 How they can give their views  

To ensure as many people as possible are informed of the proposed changes and given an opportunity 

to give their views, it is estimated that a communication campaign would be required to run for a 

minimum of eight weeks. This would include a lead-in communication time (i.e. to warm people up) 

and the consultation and engagement itself. There would be an additional period for feeding back the 

results.  

A full communications plan will need to be developed once the decision has been taken to move this 

forward and the preferred method/s of consultation and engagement has been agreed. However, table 

1 below sets out the potential methods for communicating with residents and stakeholders.  

Depending on the consultation and communication approach determined and agreed by the 

Committee it is likely that a budget of around £15k to £20K would be needed to support this 

exercise. 

 

 

Page 6



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL Page 3 of 10 

OFFICIAL 

Table 1 

 

Stakeholder Potential communication methods 

The general public 

/ electorate 

 Media releases and briefings 

 Paid for content in media e.g. Plymouth Chronicle 

 Email bulletins to residents subscribed to updates 

 Campaign on social media including paid for 

advertising and post promotion 

 Website content and Q&As  

 Explanatory videos promoted across all channels 

 Flyers / consultation material sent to every household 

in the city.  

PCC Staff 

Communications 

 Staff Room  

 Staff News  

 Tracey Team Talk  

 Team Plymouth  

Elected members  Briefings / workshops for groups / all members 

 Email communications and Q&As 

 Assets to help them share content 

Partners  Briefings e.g. to existing forums - One Plymouth, 

Chamber of Commerce etc. 

 Email letters to key partners 

 Staff comms in partner organisations 

 Assets to help them share content 

MPs  Briefings 

 Assets to help them share content 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL Page 4 of 10 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix A 

Electoral Cycles Briefing Report 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Plymouth City Council has operated its current electoral cycle of ‘election by thirds’ 

since 2003, before which a cycle of ‘all out’ elections every four years was in place.  

1.2. The current administration has requested that the Council seeks feedback from the 

public and other city stakeholders as to whether the current electoral cycle best serves 

the Council and the city. 

1.3. Legislative change introduced under the Local Government and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007 and amended by the Localism Act 2011 provided Local Authorities 

with the option of changing their electoral cycle.  

1.4. This briefing sets out the policy, financial and legal context relating to local government 

electoral cycles and arrangements for consultation. 

1.5. The Local Government Boundary Commission for England has informed the Council 

that it wishes to carry out an electoral review of Plymouth City Council.  The process 

and implication of this are covered in section seven of this report. 

 

2. Cycles of local government elections in England 

2.1. Plymouth City Council has 57 Councillors and currently elects by thirds. This means 

that one third of the Councillors are elected to office in three years out of four, and in 

the fourth year there are no elections, which is known as a fallow year. 

2.2. Election by halves is where half of the Councillors are elected every 2 years. Whole 

council (all out) elections are where all Councillors are elected to office once every 

four years. 

2.3. Currently 333 councils in England hold all out elections. 103 councils elect by thirds. 

Seven (7) councils elect by halves.1 

2.4. Plymouth City Council is one of 16 out of 55 Unitary Authorities in England which 

elects by thirds. The remaining 39 hold all out elections every fourth year. No unitary 

authority holds elections by halves.  Amongst metropolitan districts, 33 of 36 elect by 

thirds. 

2.5. Of the 29 local authorities in the South West Region, 26 councils hold all out elections, 

two (2) by thirds and one (1) by halves. 

 

3. Policy context and comparisons 

 
3.1. The Electoral Commission, the independent body which oversees elections, recommended in 

its publication ‘The cycle of local government elections’ (2004) that local authorities ‘in 

England should hold whole council elections, with all councillors elected simultaneously, once 

every four years’.2  

                                            
1https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/9201

86/Election_Timetable_in_England_2019.pdf (updated to take account of Derby City Council’s recent adoption 

of all out elections). 
2https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/electoral_commission_pdf_file/cycleoflocalelecfinal_11595-

9056__E__N__S__W__.pdf 

Page 8

https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/electoral_commission_pdf_file/cycleoflocalelecfinal_11595-9056__E__N__S__W__.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/920186/Election_Timetable_in_England_2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/920186/Election_Timetable_in_England_2019.pdf


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL Page 5 of 10 

OFFICIAL 

3.2. The Electoral Commission recommended a move back to whole council elections in 

order to provide “stronger local democracy”, “greater clarity” for the electorate and to 

encourage “greater understanding” of elections. 

3.3. Various studies have been carried out on the impact of different electoral cycles on 

voter turnout in local elections in England.  Because there are a number of other factors 
affecting turnout in any given year, such as combined local and parliamentary elections, 

it is difficult to draw strong conclusions.  Research commissioned by the Electoral 

Commission shows that turnout is marginally greater among Councils who conduct all 

out elections than among those who elect by thirds, based on a comparison between 

districts, London Boroughs and metropolitan districts. 

3.4. The table below sets out some of the advantages and disadvantages of each cycle.  This 

includes learning from the Electoral Commission and research from other authorities 

who have reviewed their election cycle. 

 

 Election by thirds All out elections 

Advantages  Process known and understood. 

 More opportunities for voters. 

 Councillors and political parties held 

to account by voters more regularly  

 Local issues not confused with 

national issues. 

 Allows for gradual change at the 

Council 

 Can ensure that the political 

composition of authorities more 

accurately reflects the local political 

context. 

 Continuity of Councillors. 

 

 Electorate can vote on four-year 

manifestos and long-term 

commitments. 

 Clearer opportunity for the 

electorate to change the political 

composition of the Council  

 Significant cost savings. 

 Electors more likely to 

understand the election cycle. 

 Same electoral cycle as Police 

and Crime Commissioner and 

Combined Authority Mayoral 

elections which take place every  

four years. 

 Less elections may mean less 

election fatigue and voter 

apathy. 

 

Dis-

advantages 

 

 Less stability – regular changes of 

political control can affect local 

businesses and Council services. 

 Confusing for the electorate as to 

which candidate is to be elected and 

what the process is. 

 It is difficult to see through major 

policy decisions, or large 

infrastructure or regeneration 

projects in a single year. 

 Difficult or unpopular decisions can 

be put off for future years, rather 

than taken when needed. 

 Constant year on year campaigning 

by Councillors and political parties 

may lead to voter fatigue and a lack 

of interest. 

 Risk that some electors will 

disengage. 

 Risk that such a change would 

be perceived as less democratic. 

 A large turnover of Councillors 

may lead to disruption, 

particular if the direction of the 

council is changed significantly. 

 Political complacency. 

 May lead to more by-elections    

taking place and an increase in 

costs. 

 Loss of experienced Councillors. 

 Less frequent elections could be 

detrimental to encouraging 

candidates to stand for election 

as the opportunity to serve on 

the       Council will be less 

frequent. 

Page 9



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL Page 6 of 10 

OFFICIAL 

 

4. Election Cycle Financial Implications  
 

4.1. To continue with elections by thirds over a ten year period would cost an estimated 

£2.66 million. Should the Council to move to whole council elections by 2023 it is 

estimated that this would cost £1.26 million across a 10 year period and save £1.4 

million.  

4.2. It is important to note that were the Council to move to whole council elections, costs 

for each individual election will rise marginally. Additional costs could include:  

 printing costs (ballots papers are likely to be longer);  

 postal vote opening costs;  

 costs at the count (no change for time spent on verification but longer time in 

sorting and counting of votes) to include additional counting assistants, count 

supervisors etc.  

4.3. The estimated revenue cost of running a single all-out election is £420K.  

4.4. The table below provides estimated costs under whole council and election by thirds 

cycles. It should be noted that the costs in these tables are estimates. Actual costs and 

savings may vary depending on the number of by-elections, general elections and Police 

and Crime Commissioner Elections. 

 

Year Election/s 
All out elections every 

four years 
Elections in thirds 

2021 Local     

2022 Local     

2023 Local £420,000 £380,000 

2024 
Local, Police & Crime Commissioner, 
UKPGE 

£0 £200,000 

2025 Fallow Year £0 £0 

2026 Local £0 £380,000 

2027 Local £420,000 £380,000 

2028 Local, Police & Crime Commissioner £0 £280,000 

2029 UKPGE £0 £0 

2030 Local £0 £380,000 

2031 Local £420,000 £380,000 

2032 Local, Police & Crime Commissioner £0 £280,000 

  Total  Costs £1,260,000 £2,660,000 
 

 

5. Legal Context 

 

5.1. Legislative change introduced under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007 and amended by the Localism Act 2011 provides Local Authorities with the option 

of changing their electoral cycle.  

Page 10



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL Page 7 of 10 

OFFICIAL 

 

5.2. To move to whole council elections, the council must fulfil the requirements of sections 32 – 

36 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 which relate to 

consultation and resolution of council.  

 
5.3. This requires that the council must not pass any resolution to change its electoral cycle 

unless it has taken reasonable steps to consult such persons as it thinks appropriate on the 

proposed change; this is not further prescribed in legislation. 

 

Consultation 

 

5.4. The Council must take reasonable steps to engage/consult with those it thinks appropriate 

on any proposed change. This will include, but is not limited to –  

 the general public /  electorate 

 serving Councillors 

 Members of Parliament 

 key city partners 

     Public Opinion 

5.5. Section 116 of the Local Government Act 2003 provides a specific power for local authorities 

to hold local “advisory polls”. 

5.6. The result of a Section 116 poll is not binding on the council or any other entity. It is purely 

advisory. It does however provide clear evidence of the public views on the matter being put 

before them.  

5.7. Proceeding with a public engagement/consultation does not in any way bind the authority to 

seeking a resolution to amend the election cycle. 

5.8. Under Section 116 it is a Council function to determine who to engage/consult and how the 

engagement/consultation is to be conducted. The Council will need to agree: 

 Whether a public engagement/consultation is required? 

And if it is: 

 the participant/s 

 the question; and 

 how the public engagement/consultation is to be conducted 

 

6. Decision-Making Process  

 

6.1. Following the engagement/consultation process, should councillors be minded to propose a 

change to the electoral cycle, an extraordinary meeting of the council would be called to 

consider a report and vote on a resolution.  

6.2. The resolution must specify the year for the first ordinary elections of the council at which all 

councillors are to be elected. A two thirds majority would be required, to resolve to move to 

whole-Council elections. 

6.3. If the resolution is passed, then the council must produce an explanatory document available 

for public inspection and give the Local Government Boundary Commission for England 

notice that it has passed the resolution.  

Page 11



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL Page 8 of 10 

OFFICIAL 

6.4. There is then a detailed process for the implementation of the change to the electoral cycle 

that is detailed through the Act and related guidance. 

 

7. Local Government Boundary Commission for England: Plymouth electoral review  

 

7.1. The Council was informed in November 2021 that the Boundary Commission for England 

intends to undertake an electoral review in Plymouth.  This is in line with its duties in law to 

carry out such a review ‘from time to time’.  The last review of this type in Plymouth was in 

2001. 

7.2. The purpose of an electoral review is to consider the number of councillors elected to the 

council, the names, number and boundaries of the wards and the number of councillors to be 

elected to each ward. 

7.3. After the review, the Council will be required to have an ‘all out’ election, where every seat is 

contested.  The Council has a choice as to whether the review is implemented by an ‘all out’ 

election in 2026 or 2027. 

7.4. The law has changed since the last review took place with the result that, in Councils that 

elect by thirds, the Commission will seek to return a uniform pattern of three member wards 

rather than retain the option of two member wards that the Council currently has in 

Plympton and Drake. 

7.5. If, before the electoral review starts, the Council resolves to change its electoral cycle to 

elect ‘all out’, the Commission will be able to retain a mixture of two and three member 

wards as currently is the case. 

7.6. Based on the assumption that the Council opts for an electoral review that is implemented by 

an ‘all out’ election in May 2026, it must inform the Boundary Commission prior to 

December 2023 of any decision to change the electoral cycle. An indicative timetable for a 

review on this timescale is attached at Appendix C 

7.7. In order to establish public opinion on the matter, and decide whether or not to put a 

potential change to the Council for consideration informed by consultation, an eight week 

consultation would ideally take place from mid-May 2023.  This would allow for an eight week 

consultation period, and time to analyse results prior to a Council decision in November 

2023 and avoiding a consultation period during the summer holiday season.  

 

 

Page 12



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL Page 9 of 10 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix B – Case studies 

 

Local 

Authority 

Date Activity Response  Result Decision 

Harrogate 

Borough 

Council 

 

6 week 

consultation  

Sept/Oct 

2015 

‘Have Your Say’ 

online Survey  

Hard copies 

upon request 

Consulted 

District Panel 

(850)  

Parish Councils 

notified  

Press release  

51  

 

16 were in favour 

of elections by 

thirds 

32 were in favour 

of whole council 

elections 

3 had no 

preference 

 

At an Extraordinary 

meeting held on 18 

November 2015, 

the Council 

resolved to change 

to whole Council 

elections from May 

2018. 

 

Slough 

Borough 

Council 

 

6 week 

consultation  

Nov/Jan 

2022 

Online Survey   

Hard copies 

form delivered 

to every 

household  

631  242 supported 

retaining election 

by thirds 

389 favoured a 

move to whole 

council elections 

At an Extraordinary 

meeting held on 18 

January 2022, the 

Council resolved to 

change to whole 

Council elections 
from May 2023. 

 

Worcester 

City Council 

 

3 week 

consultation 

Jan/Feb 
2022 

Wrote to 

statutory 

organisations  

Consulted 

residents’ panel 

Press releases, 

social media 

campaigns, 

Council’s 

website.  

328  

 

121 – Retain 

current system of 

election by thirds 

192 – Move to 

whole council 

elections 

15 – D/K 

 

At an Extraordinary 

meeting held on 22 

February 2022, the 
Council resolved to 

adopt, from May 

2024, whole 

Council elections.  

 

Derby City 

Council 

8 week 

consultation 

Jan/March 

2020 

Online Survey  

Hard copies 

upon request 

Council website 

Social media 

channels 

Sent out to 

networks and 

partner 

organisations 

 

511 79 - Retain current 

system of election 

by thirds 

419 - change to 

whole council 

elections 

8 – No preference 

At an Extraordinary 

meeting 19 January 

2022, the Council 

resolved to move 

to four-yearly 'all 

council' elections, 

commencing with 

local elections to 

be held in 2023. 

Page 13



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

ELECTION CYCLE CHANGE PROPOSAL Page 10 of 10 

OFFICIAL 

Tanridge 

District 

Council  

9 May -

Friday 17 

June 2022 

News items 

issued to all our 

media contacts 

and partners.  

Dedicated 

webpage on 

council’s 

website.  

Social media 

posts. 

Articles in some 

local, free, 

monthly 

magazines.  

E-mail footer on 

officers’ e-mails.  

Articles in every 

Tandridge News 

and Events e-

newsletter in 

May and June. 

214  106 were in 

favour of 

retaining 

elections by 

thirds. This 

was 51.21% 

of 

respondents 

who 

expressed 

an opinion.  

 101 were in 

favour of 

moving to 

whole 

Council 

elections. 
This was 

48.79% of 

respondents 

who 

expressed 

an opinion.  

 7 did not 

provide an 

answer. 

The relevant 

committee voted to 

retain election by 

thirds.  

Wokingham 

Borough 

Council 

7 March 

2022 – 15 

April 2022 

Online Survey  

Hard copies 

upon request 

 

3,067  54% of 

respondents 

were in 
favour of 

the move to 

all out 

elections 

and 46% 

were 

against 

 

22 June 2022 - Full 

council rejected the 

proposed change to 

the electoral cycle. 

Sandwell 

Metropolitan 

Borough 

Council  

6 June – 4 

September 

2022 

Online Survey  

Hard copies 

upon request 

 

Consultation 

ongoing 

Consultation 

ongoing 

Consultation 

ongoing 

 

Page 14



 

 
Appendix C   PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 Draft Electoral Review Timetable 

These timetables outline the key dates and activities for both the Council (shown in bold) 

and the Commission during the review process. 

 

Preliminary Period 
 

Briefings Attendees Key Dates 

 
 

Initial Meeting 

Council 

Leader 

Chief 

Executive 

 
Chair 

Chief Executive 

 
 

December 2023 

 

Officer Briefing 

Electoral 

services, 

Planning. 

GIS, Comms 

Review Manager 

Review Officer 

 

January 2024 

 
Group Leader 

Briefing 

Council 

Group 

Leaders 

Lead 

Commissioner 

Review Manager 

Review Officer 

 

January 2024 

 
Full Council 

Briefing 

 
All 

Councillors 

Lead 

Commissioner 

Review Manager 

Review Officer 

 
 

January 2024 

Parish/Town Council & 

Local Groups Briefing 
Officer to 

facilitate 

Review Manager 

Review Officer 

 
August 2024 

 
Council Size 

 

 

Activity 
Involvement  

Key Dates 
Council LGBCE 

 

Develop council size 

proposal 

 
Council 

Political Groups 

Officers will be available 

to answer any technical 

queries on making a 

submission. 

January 2024 

until July 2024 

(6 months) 

Page 15



 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

Submission of council 

size proposals 
Council Political 

Groups 

Officers will 

acknowledge receipt of 

submissions. 

 
July 2024 

Commission Meeting: 

Council Size 
Not required Commission August 2024 

 

Warding Patterns 
 

 

Activity 
Involvement  

Key Dates 
Council LGBCE 

Consultation 

on warding 

patterns 

Council 

Political Groups 

General Public 

Run consultation, 

collate & analyse 

responses. 

10 weeks 

August – October 

2024 

Commission Meeting: 

Draft Recommendations 

 
Not required 

 
Commission 

 
January 2025 

Consultation on 

Draft 

Recommendations 

Council 

Political Groups 

General Public 

Publish draft 

recommendations. Run 

consultation, collate & 

analyse responses. 

10 weeks 

February – April 

2025 

Commission Meeting: 

Final Recommendations 

 
Not required 

 
Commission 

 
June 2025 

Final Recommendations 

published 

 
Not required 

 
Commission 

 
July 2025 

 
Order 

 

 

Activity 
Involvement  

Key Dates 
Council LGBCE 

Order laid Not required Commission Autumn 2025 

Order made Not required Commission Winter 2025 

Implementation Council Not required May 2026 

 

Page 16



OFFICIAL

Council
timeline 

DRAFT ELECTORAL REVIEW TIMETABLE

Boundary 
Commission

timeline

20242022 2023

Council Milestones

Commission Milestones

 Council 
decision on 

election cycle
Sept 2023

Officer Briefing 
Electoral Services, 

Planning, GIS, 
Communications

Group Leader 
Briefing

Full Council 
Briefing (all 
Councillors)

Jan 2024

Develop Council size proposal Jan – Jul 2024

Submission of 
Council size 
proposals
Jul 2024

Consultation on warding 
patterns Aug – Oct 2024

Commission 
Meeting: Council 

size
Aug 2024

Parish / Town 
Council & Local 
Groups Briefing

Aug 2024

Local 
elections
May 2023

Local 
elections
May 2024

Analysis of 
consultation results 

and 
recommendations to 

Council 
Aug – Sept 2023

Audit and 
Governance 

Committee to 
agree 

consultation 
approach 
Jun 2023

Local 
elections
May 2024

Audit and 
Governance 

recommendations 
on consultation to 

Full Council
Jul 2022

Council considers 
Audit and 

Governance 
recommendations 

Sept 2022

Consultation approach developed 
and prepared Sept 2022 – May 2023

Local 
elections
May 2023

Communications 
and consultation on 

election cycle 
Jun - Jul 2023

Initial 
Meeting 
Council 

Leader / CEX
Dec 2023

Deadline for 
Council's 

confirmation 
of election 

cycle 
Nov 2023

P
age 17



OFFICIAL

DRAFT ELECTORAL REVIEW TIMETABLE
2025 2026

Commission 
Meeting: Draft 

Recommendations
Jan 2025

Consultation on Draft 
Recommendations Feb – 

Apr 2025

Commission 
Meeting: Final 

Recommendations
Jun 2025

Commission 
Meeting: Final 

Recommendations
published
Jul 2025

Council 
Implementation

May 2026

Order laid – 
Autumn 2025

Order made – 
Winter 2025

Council Milestones

Commission Milestones

No local 
elections

in May 2025

Council
timeline 

Boundary 
Commission

timeline

All out elections on 
revised warding

May 2026

New or existing 
electoral cycle 

commences

P
age 18


	Agenda
	4 Public Consultation Regarding the Council's Electoral Cycle
	Electoral cycle briefing report
	Appendix C - Draft Timetable
	Draft Electoral Review Timetable 14.07.22


